IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 99-50827
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

ver sus

BRI AN SCOTT SPRUI LL,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas

Bef ore GARWOOD, BARKSDALE, and DEMOSS, Circuit Judges.
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel | ant Brian Scott Spruill (Spruill) appeals his
guilty plea conviction for violating 18 U S C. 8 922(g)(8).
Not wi t hst andi ng his plea agreenent’s wai ver of appellate rights to
chal | enge the conviction on grounds other than the Fifth and Second
Amendnents, we vacate and remand because the record clearly
reflects and the district court found that the predicate court

order was not “issued after a hearing of which such person received

actual notice” as required by section 922(g)(8).



Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

Spruill was charged in a two count indictnment with violations
of 18 U.S.C. §8 922(g). Each count charged that Spruill on July 20,
1998 “did knowngly possess in and affecting commerce
firearms[sic], to wt: a Largo, 9nmm sem -automatic pistol
manuf actured by Star, which had been shipped and transported in
interstate commerce.” Count one alleged that this possession
vi ol ated section 922(g)(8) in that at the time Spruill was subject
to a February 11, 1998 order of the County Court at Law of M dl and
County, Texas, issued after a hearing of which Spruill had notice
and an opportunity to participate, which restrained him from
harassing, stalking and threatening his intimte partner and her
child and by its terns explicitly prohibits the use, attenpted use,
and threatened use of physical force against his intinmte partner
and her child. Count two alleged that this possession violated
section 922(g)(3) in that Spruill “is an unlawful wuser of or
addicted to a controll ed substance.”

Spruill filed a notion, and a second notion, to dismss each
count of the indictnent on various grounds. The second notion was
predi cated on the district court’s opinion in USA v. Enerson, 46
F. Supp.2d 589 (N.D. Tex. 1999) (which this court subsequently
reversed, USA v. Enerson, 270 F.3d 203 (5th Gr. 2001)), and urged
t hat sections 922(g)(8) and 922(g)(3) violated the Second and Fifth

Amendnents. The supporting nmenorandumfiled with the second noti on



to dismss attached a copy of the February 11, 1998 order and
all eged, inter alia:

“Although the boilerplate order issued under these
ci rcunst ances was signed by Judge Royal Hart, there was
no evi denti ary heari ng about the circunstances | eading to
the i ssuance of said order and Defendant never appeared
before said judge. Def endant was not represented by
counsel and coul d not read the Protective Order presented
to him M. Spruill appeared before Assistant District
Attorney David Watson, who represented the interest of
the Petitioner in that matter, but, who neverthel ess,
expl ained the purpose of the Protective Order and at
| east sone of its requirenents to the Defendant. No
mention about Defendant’s ability to own, possess or
lawfully use a weapon was made at that tinme and said
Protective Order, while adnonishing the Defendant about
other prohibitions required by state |aw, does not
mention any prohibition of weapon possessi on of any ki nd.
The i ssuance of the Protective Order was a precursor to
the filing of a Petition for Divorce in the state court.”

. . the party potentially subject to the order may
agree to be bound by said order wi thout a hearing of
record before a Judge, and w thout representation by an
attorney. In the present case, there is no question that
there was not a hearing before Judge Hart, that the
def endant was not adnoni shed with regard to his ability
to possess a gun. M. Spruill appeared Pro Se, and was
presented with a form order provided by the Mdl and
County District Attorneys office where he was told ‘ where
to sign,” if he did not oppose the notion by the State.
(see Protective Order attached as exhibit “B")."1

The state court order is stanped as filed February 11, 1998,
is entitled “Protective Order” and conmences as foll ows:

“ On 11 [handwitten] day of February, 1998, the Court
heard the Application of REBECCA LEA SPRUI LL, Applicant,
for a Protective Order.

APPEARANCES
Appl i cant, REBECCA LEA SPRUI LL, appeared i n person and by
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attorney and announced ready.

Respondent, BRI AN SCOTT SPRUI LL, appeared in person and
announced ready.

AGREED ORDER

The parties have agreed, as evidenced by their signatures
and subject to the approval of the Court, to the terns
and conditions set below, and such agreenent shall be a
part of this Protective Oder.

JURI SDI CTI ON

The Court, having considered the pl eadi ngs and heard the
evidence and argunent of counsel, finds that all
necessary prerequisites of the |aw have been satisfied
and that this Court has jurisdiction over the parties and
the subject matter of this cause.

FI NDI NGS AND ORDERS

The Court finds that Applicant and Respondent are husband
and wife.
The Court finds that famly violence has occurred and
that famly violence is likely to occur in the future.
The Court finds that Respondent, BRI AN SCOIT SPRUI LL, has
commtted famly violence. The Court finds that the
followng protective orders are for the safety and
wel fare and in the best interest of Applicant and ot her
menbers of the famly or househol d and are necessary for
the prevention of famly viol ence.
It is ORDERED that Respondent, BRI AN SCOTT SPRUI LL, is
prohibited from doing and/or required to do the
fol | ow ng:
PROH BI TED FROM COWM TTI NG FAM LY VI OLENCE.
FAMLY VIOLENCE |IS DEFINED |IN SECTION
71.01(b)(2) OF THE TEXAS FAM LY CODE AS ‘AN
ACT BY A MEMBER OF A FAMLY OR HOUSEHOLD
AGAI NST ANOTHER MEMBER OF THE FAMLY OR
HOUSEHOLD THAT IS INTENDED TO RESULT |IN
PHYSI CAL HARM BODILY | NJURY, OR ASSAULT, OR
THAT IS A THREAT THAT REASONABLY PLACES THE
MEMBER IN FEAR OF | MM NENT PHYSI CAL HARM
BODI LY | NJURY, ASSAULT, OR SEXUAL ASSAULT.



ENGAG NG |IN CONDUCT DI RECTED SPECI FI CALLY
TOMRD A PERSON VHO | S A MEMBER OF THE FAM LY
OR HOUSEHOLD, | NCLUDI NG FOLLOWN NG THE PERSON
THAT |'S REASONABLY LI KELY TO HARASS, ANNOY,
ALARM  ABUSE, TORMENT, OR EMBARRASS THAT
PERSON. ”

The order also specifies various other prohibitions, including
directly comrunicating wth the applicant “except through her
di vorce attorney, Tom Morgan”. The |ast two prohibitions preclude
Spruill fromgoing within 200 yards of the famly residence or his
w fe' s place of enploynent or the children’ s school s.

The order then grants the w fe exclusive possession of the
resi dence, use and possession of various itens of furniture,
fixtures, appliances, personal effects and a particular notor
vehi cl e, and provides that the order “is effective i medi atel y” and
W ll continue in force “through 11th [handwitten] February 1999.”

The order concludes “SIGNED the 11 [handwitten] day of Feb
[ handwitten], 1998" followed by the judge' s signhature and hand
printed nane.

There then appears a heading “WARNI NGS” which states that,
inter alia, any violation of the order is punishable by contenpt
(and otherw se), and concl udes “NO PERSON, | NCLUDI NG A PERSON WHO
| S PROTECTED BY THI S ORDER, MAY G VE PERM SSI ON TO ANYONE TO | GNORE

OR VI OLATE ANY PROVI SION OF THIS ORDER . . . UNLESS A COURT CHANGES
THE ORDER.”

There follows a signed signature |ine under which is typed
“David Watson Assistant District Attorney.” Below that there is

the typed statenent “Approved As To Form Only” followed by a
signature line on which is handwitten “Pro Se” and bel ow which is
typed “Attorney for Respondent.” Bel ow that appears the typed
statenent “1 have been given a copy of the protective order that
has been filed in this cause. | hereby enter ny appearance in this
cause and waive the issuance and service of process.” This is
followed by two signature lines, one before the typed word
“Respondent” and the other before the typed word “Applicant;” the
latter is blank and the forner bears Spruill’s signature. Thereis
no verification (or acknow edgnent) of Spruill’s signature. Cf
Tex. R CGv. P., Rules 119 (waiver of issuance or service of
process nust be verified before a proper officer other than an
attorney in the case and be acconpani ed by and acknow edge recei pt
of a copy of the petition); 120 (“enter an appearance in open
court”); 121 (answer i s appearance).

The order is seven pages | ong, the judge’ s signature appearing
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The district court held a hearing on the notions to di sm ss on
May 7, 1999, and overruled them “w thout prejudice,” stating “I’m
going to give full consideration to the notion, but |’mgoing to do
it only after a trial.”

The case was subsequently set for a bench trial June 10, 1999.
On that date the parties appeared before the court and defense
counsel announced “subject to your approval, we have entered into
this conditional plea and we would |ike to perfect the record by
adducing evidence . . . we would like then to reurge the |ast
Motion to Dismss that we previously presented to the Court after
we present that evidence.”

Evi dence was then presented. Assistant District Attorney
Watson testified that his office handled protective orders for

i ndigents (see Tex. Famly Code 8§ 82.002(d)(1)), and he had been

the person assigned to do so for the previous two years. He
brought with him the file in the Spruill protective order and
“sonmewhat” renenbered it. He stated that “Spruill came to the

District Attorney’s office, but | don't believe we ever entered a
courtroom” He said he “believe[d]” Spruill “mentioned to ne that

he couldn’t read,” and indicated “he was going to agree to the

on the sixth page, foll owed by the “Warni ngs,” and the seventh page
is that on which the signatures of WAtson and Spruill appear.

The order does not purport to prohibit possession of a firearm
or in any way state that such is its effect under state or federal
law, and it is not suggested that the charged possession occurred
in connection with or in relation to any violation or attenpted
viol ation of the order.



protective order.” The practice of the District Attorney’'s Ofice

was that the formorder was prepared by the “staff; [i]f they're
going to agree to it, discuss it with their attorney or with them
then we’'ll strike out certain things in the canned protective
orders in the conputer and add whether or not its agreed or
contested or if there was pro se or whether or not an attorney was
present.” Spruill “agreed with this.” As far as Watson knew,
Spruill did so without “the benefit of a |lawer.” Wtson “read
parts of it to him and explained what it neant and what the
inplications of the order would be.” Wat son “believe[d]” he
“enphasi zed the fact that the only person that could allow himto

go within 200 yards of the residence, its in the protective order,

or go against any of the orders or protective order was the judge

that Ms. Spruill couldn’t give himauthority to cone to the
home or whatever”, and stated “I believe | enphasized that. I
recall sitting and talking with M. Spruill.” Wat son did not

mention any other part of the order read or explained to Spruill.
He further stated “lI do recall M. Spruill, speaking with him and
the fact that he couldn’t read was one thing that rem nded nme of it
and | do attenpt whenever there’'s an agreed protective order with
a pro se individual to explain the protective order fairly
thoroughly.” Watson agreed that if one in Spruill’s position had
said he didn't want to sign or agree to the order, or wanted to see

a lawer or go see the judge about it “they would have been



provi ded an opportunity for that hearing.” He also stated that
“whenever | deal with a pro se respondent, | |ist the options they
have available, representing thenselves, hiring an attorney,
agreeing to an order or default.” Witson also testified:

“l have a handwitten note in the file stating that we
had contacted hi mand he was going to agree to the order,
sone of the conditions, to prepare the agreed order, and
M. Spruill would cone in and speak to ne. Wen he cane
inexactly | don't recall the tine or the exact date, but
in routine practice whenever an agreed order is gone
over, it’s presented right then to the judge.”

Spruill then testified. He responded “no, sir” when asked
“can you read the English | anguage well”, and “yes, sir” when asked
“you just can’t read. |Is that correct.” He testified that before

his wife filed for divorce he was called by the District Attorney’s
office and they “told ne that they had a paper for nme to conme down

it was going to be afiling of a protective order on ne,” and
“I told them!| would cone down and take care of that.” He went to
the District Attorney’s office, talked with Watson there and “told
him| would just like to go ahead and sign the order and get it
over with.” \Wen asked if Watson told himthat his signing the

protective order would give up certain of his rights, Spruill

responded “Yes, sir. He told ne that—-well, basically what he told
me was that | wasn't supposed to be in so close of her or the
school or her nother’s house where she would be staying.” He

testified that he did not ever appear before a judge and that he

did not then have an attorney. Spruill further testified that



Wat son never told him and he was unaware, that by virtue of the
protective order he could not possess a handgun or weapon or that
he needed to check federal statutes in that respect.?

The court was presented with the witten plea agreenent and
attached witten “Factual Basis” for it. The plea agreenent
provides Spruill would plead guilty to the section 922(g)(8) count
(count one) and the remai ni ng count (count two, section 922(g)(3))
woul d be dism ssed, that the Governnment woul d not oppose maxi num
points for acceptance of responsibility or nove for upward
departure, and that Spruill waived the right to appeal his
convi ction and sentence:

“except for the followng two nmatters that were raised

via pre-trial notion and overrul ed by the Court.[3 First,

t he Defendant nay appeal the issue of whether 18 U S. C

8§ 922(g)(8), taking into account the Protective Order at

issue in this case (a true copy of which is part of the

attached Factual Basis as Exhibit A thereto), violates

the Second Anendnent and ot her provisions of the United

States Constitution as set forth in United States v.
Emerson, No. 6:98-CR-103-C (N.D. Tex. March 30, 1998).

2Watson testified that at the time he was unaware of §
922(9) (8) and did not adnoni sh Spruill in that connection, and that
of the sone five judges to whom he presented protective orders he
could not recall that any “adnoni sh[ed] anybody in court that they
woul d be violating this statute or one like it if they possessed a
firearm” The prosecution subsequently stated “we will freely
stipulate that we do not have evidence that M. Spruill was aware
of the existence of this law or that he specifically knew it was
illegal under a protective order like this one, that it was ill egal
to possess a weapon.” There was no evidence Spruill had ever
signed (or saw) a BATF Form 4473 (or sim |l ar docunent) so advi sing.

’The nmotions to dismss were not actually overruled until

August 13, 1999, though at the June 10, 1999 hearing the district
court indicated that would likely be its ruling.
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Second, the Defendant nmay appeal the issue of whether 18

US C 8 922(g)(8), given the Governnent’s stipulation

(set forth in the Factual Basis) that it cannot prove

beyond a reasonabl e doubt that Defendant was aware that

he coul d not |l egally possess a weapon, violates the Fifth

Anmendnment to the United States Constitution.”?

The Factual Basis states that the February 11, 1998 order was
entered that date and was still in effect on July 20, 1998, it
attaches and i ncorporates a true copy of the entire order, and al so
summari zes sonme of its provisions. It goes on to recite that on
July 20, 1998 Spruill, in the parking lot of a restaurant in
M dl and, Texas, got out of his car and carried the 9nm Largo sem -
automatic pistol, which was unl oaded, fromhis car to the car of a

“reporting individual ,” and was then arrested.® It is stated that
this pistol “was manufactured in Spain, and so necessarily would
have had to have been shipped or transported in interstate and
foreign comerce to have arrived in Texas,” and that “DPS tests
i ndicate that this weapon was operational.”

Wth respect to how the protective order cane about, the

Factual Basis recites

“The agreenent also said it did not preclude challenge to the
conviction or sentence for ineffective assistance of counsel or
certain prosecutorial m sconduct.

The Factual Basis further recites that the “reporting
i ndi vidual” had previously traded the Largo to Spruill for another
pi stol and on July 17, 1998, in a consensually recorded tel ephone
call nonitored by the DPS, had offered to trade the other pistol
back to Spruill in exchange for the Largo and resolution of an
out st andi ng debt between the two, Spruill had agreed, and the two
were to neet at the restaurant July 20, 1998 to effectuate the
transaction. In this July 17, 1998 conversation “officers heard
Spruill state an intention to shoot Rebecca Lea Spruill.”
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“Def endant appear ed before the Court when this Protective
Order was issued, and had the opportunity to be heard on

the matter. | ndeed, Defendant signed the Protective
Order acknow edging his receipt of it, and agreed to its
terns.”

Based on the earlier testinony at the hearing, the Governnent and
def ense counsel agreed, and stated in open court, that the first
sentence in the above quoted passage would be changed to read
(after “Defendant”) “cane to the District Attorney’'s office and
agreed to the order and he had the opportunity to be heard on this
matter had he chosen to.” Later in the hearing the district court
ascertained from Spruill that he agreed to this change, the court
explaining it to himas follows: “There’s a little bit of a change
in the factual basis and the change is that you didn’'t go to court
before a judge, that you just signed the protective order in M.
Wat son’s presence and then left.” After going over the plea
agreenent and factual basis and questioning and advising Spruill
and counsel pursuant to Rule 11, Fed. R Cim Pro., the district
court accepted the plea and found Spruill guilty of the offense
“subject to nmy final decision on the issue of constitutionality.”®

On August 13, 1999, the district court issued its opinion and
order overruling Spruill’s notion to dismss the indictnent. U S.
v. Spruill, 61 F.Supp.2d 587 (WD. Tex. 1999). Concerning the

protective order, the opinion states in relevant part:

The court found the plea “a knowing and voluntary plea
supported by an independent basis in fact containing each of the
essential elenments of the offense.”
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“The Defendant infornmed the ADA that he would agree to
the entry of the order. Based on that representation,
the ADA printed a standard restraining order and invited
t he Defendant to conme sign that order. The Def endant

cane in to the ADA's office for that purpose. The
Def endant i nfornmed the ADA that he could not read. The
ADA expl ai ned the restraining order to the Defendant. In

particul ar, the ADA i nfornmed t he Def endant that he could
not go within a set distance of his spouse, children or
not her-in-law s hone. The ADA did not inform the
Def endant that, upon entry of the order, the Defendant
woul d not be able to possess a firearm The ADA was not
aware of this federal |aw and has never heard a party
adnoni shed to that effect in over one hundred protective
orders he has handl ed.

The ADA al so explained to the Defendant that he could
choose to hire counsel, object to the entry of the order,
and appear before a state court judge. The Def endant
stated that he would agree to the order, signed the
order, and left. Al though the Ilanguage in this
protective order states that the Defendant appeared in
person, the Defendant never appeared before a judge, nor
was a hearing (at least as this Court would define one)
apparently ever held. Despite this, the order purported
to find that famly violence had occurred. Thi s
| anguage, however, was contained in the proposed order
which the Defendant signed wthout protest and the
Def endant did have the opportunity to participate in a
hearing, thus satisfying any procedural due process
concerns.” |d. at 588 (enphasis added).’

The district court also stated that “[d]efendant’s wife fil ed
for a divorce and a restraining order” and that “[t]he Assistant

District Attorney . . . contacted the Defendant to notify him of
the application for a restraining order and a hearing to be held on
same.” |d. W note, however, that there is no evidence a divorce

had actually been filed (as opposed to about to be filed) before
Spruill signed the Protective Order, that Spruill testified this
was “[p]rior to her filing for a divorce”, and that the nmenorandum
in support of the notion to dismss alleges that “[t] he i ssuance of
the Protective Order was a precursor to the filing of a Petition
for Divorce.” There is no evidence that any hearing was ever set
or that Spruill was ever notified of any such setting; nor is there
any evidence that a restraining order-as distinguished from a
protective order—-was ever requested or involved, or that there was
then or ever any witten application for either; nor is there any
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The district court subsequently sentenced Spruill to twenty-
one nonths’ confinenent and three years’ supervised rel ease.

Spruill timely brought this appeal.® In his initial brief as
appellant Spruill urged that the application to him of section
922(9g)(8) violated his rights wunder the Fifth and Second
Amendnents, relying on the district court opinionin United States
v. Emerson, 46 F.Supp.2d 598 (N.D. Tex. 1999). The Governnent in
appellee’s brief urged that section 922(g)(8) was constitutional
facially and as applied. W held Spruill’s appeal in abeyance
pending our resolution of the Governnent’s appeal in Enerson.
After issuance of our decision in that appeal, United States v.
Emerson, 270 F.3d 203 (5th Gr. 2001), we requested the parties to
each file a supplenental brief addressing the foll ow ng questions,
Vi z:

“(1) Does the evidence at the Rule 11 hearing, as well as
the facts found by the district court inits order dated

evidence that before comng to the District Attorney’'s office
Spruill had been contacted or called by an Assistant District
Attorney, as opposed to soneone else fromthat office. W also
note that the Protective Order is not styled as a divorce action
woul d be (Tex. Fam |y Code § 6.401(a) states “Pleadings in a suit
for divorce or annulnent shall be styled ‘In the Matter of the
Marriage of and "”) but rather as appropriate for an
i ndependent Protective O der proceeding under Chapter 85 of the
Texas Fam |y Code (the Protective Order is styled “In the Matter O
Rebecca Lea Spruill, Applicant And Brian Scott Spruill, Respondent
And In the Interest of Mnor Children Kel see West Shel by West”).

8Because he had been in pre-trial confinenent since July 1998

Spruill had served his entire confinenent sentence by the tine he
filed his initial brief as appellant in this Court.
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August 13, 1999, reflect that the predicate state court
order alleged in count one of the indictnment was not
‘issued after a hearing’ as provided in 18 U S.C. 8§
922(9) (8) (A):

(2) If so, did the district court err in accepting the

pl ea of guilty to count one, and should this court vacate

t he conviction?”

In his supplenental brief, Spruill contends that each such
question should be answered in the affirmative, and that his
conviction should accordingly be vacated. The Governnent argues
that as Spruill had, but waived, an opportunity to appear before
the state judge and present evidence, any “hearing” requirenent of
section 922(g)(8) was satisfied, and that in any event that issue
is not within any exception to the waiver of appeal in Spruill’s
pl ea agreenent.

Di scussi on

We turn to the issues addressed in the supplenental briefing,
nanmely: (1) whether the evidence at the Rule 11 hearing and the
facts found by the district court reflect that the predicate
February 11, 1998 order was w thout the scope of section 922(9)(8)

because it was not “issued after a hearing of which such person

recei ved actual notice” as required by section 922(g)(8)(A);° and

%Section 922(g)(8) provides:

“(g) It shall be unlawful for any person-

- '(8) who is subject to a court order that-—
(A) was issued after a hearing of

whi ch such person received actua
notice, and at which such person had
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(2) if so, whether the trial court erred by accepting Spruill’s
guilty plea and whether this court should accordingly vacate his
convi cti on.

1. Initially addressing the second issue, it is undisputed
that if the February 11, 1998 order is not within the class of
orders enbraced in paragraph (A) of section 922(9g)(8) that
Spruill’s possession of the firearmdid not constitute a violation
of section 922(g)(8). Accordingly, if the facts as shown at the
Rul e 11 hearing, and as found by the district court, do not reflect
that the order was within the scope of paragraph (A) of section

922(9)(8), then it is clear the district court should not have

an opportunity to partici pate;

(B) restrains such person from
harassi ng, stal king, or threatening
an intimate partner of such person
or child of such intinmate partner or
person, or engagi ng i n ot her conduct
t hat woul d pl ace an inti mate partner
in reasonable fear of bodily injury
to the partner or child; and

(O (i) includes a finding that such
person represents a credible threat
to the physical safety of such
intimate partner or child; or

(i) by its terns explicitly
prohi bits the use, attenpted use, or
threatened use of physical force
against such intimte partner or
child that would reasonably be
expected to cause bodily injury;

to ship or transport in interstate or foreign comerce,
or possess in or affecting comerce, any firearm or
anmunition; or to receive any firearmor anmunition which
has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign
commer ce.”
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accepted the guilty plea. As we said in United States v. Johnson,
194 F. 3d 657, 659 (5th Gr. 1999), vacated and renmanded, 120 S. Ct.
2193 (2000), prior opinion reinstated with nodification, 246 F.3d
749 (5th Gr. 2001):

“Atrial court cannot enter judgnent on a plea of guilty

unless it is satisfied that there is a factual basis for

t he plea. See Fed. R Cim P. 11(f). ‘The purpose

underlying this rule is to protect a defendant who may

pl ead wi th an understandi ng of the nature of the charge,

but “w thout realizing that his conduct does not actually

fall within the definition of the crinme charged.”’” United

States v. Qberski, 734 F.2d 1030, 1031 (5th Cr. 1984)

(quoting United States v. Johnson, 546 F. 2d 1225, 1226-27

(5th Gr. 1977)). This factual basis nust appear in the

record and nmust be sufficiently specific to allow the

court to determne that the defendant’s conduct was

‘Wthin the anbit of that defined as crimnal.’ [Id.”

The fact that Spruill’s gquilty plea reserved only the
constitutional issues, and not whether the defendant’s conduct
constituted an offense under the statute, neither |essens the
foregoing Rule 11(f) requirenent nor precludes reversal on appeal
for failure to neet it. Thus, in Johnson, although we opined that
t he defendant, charged with arson under 18 U. S.C. § 844(i), had, by
unconditionally pl eadi ng guilty, “wai ved hi s as- applied
constitutional challenge to 8 844(i)”, id. at 659, we neverthel ess
vacated the conviction “[b]ecause the factual basis presented to
the district court fails to establish the interstate comrerce
element of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 844(i).” 1d. at 662-63. W reaffirmed our

opinion and holding in this respect on remand from the Suprene

Court and al so held that vacation was additionally required because
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“the factual basis for the plea as shown by the record Iikew se
does not suffice” to establish that the burned “buil di ng was bei ng
actively enployed for commercial purposes so as to be within the
terms of section 844(i).” Johnson, 246 F.3d at 752. See al so
United States v. Wite, 258 F.3d 374, 380 (5th Gr. 2001)
(“notw t hstandi ng an unconditional plea of guilty, we will reverse
on direct appeal where the factual basis for the plea as shown of
record fails to establish an element of the offense of
conviction”).10

Nor do we conclude that review at this stage is barred by the
wai ver of appeal provisions in Spruill’s plea agreenent. In Wite
we noted that a sim |l ar appeal waiver-as here, of issues not raised
in this notion to dismss the indictnent—was “insufficient to
acconplish an intelligent waiver of the right not to prosecuted
(and inprisoned) for conduct that does not violate the |aw and
“Iwereject[ed] the governnent’s wai ver argunent, especially since
failure to do so risks depriving a person of his liberty for
conduct that does not constitute an offense.” 1d. at 380. W are
cited to no opinion of this court which has enforced such an appeal

wai ver in anal ogous circunstances.

0The fact that the particular factual and | egal scenario here
presented does not appear to have been addressed in any other
reported opinion does not preclude the asserted error in this
respect from being sufficiently clear or plain to authorize
vacation of the conviction on direct appeal. The factual and | egal
scenarios in Johnson and Wiite were each at |east as novel.
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2. Accordingly, it is appropriate for us torule on the first
i ssue presented in the supplenental briefing, essentially whether
the predicate February 11, 1998 order was not “issued after a
heari ng of which such person recei ved actual notice”, and was hence
not within the scope of section 922(qg)(8)(A).

As the governnent recognizes, “[t]he term ‘hearing’ in its
| egal context undoubtedly has a host of neanings.” United States
v. Florida East Coast Railway Conpany, 93 S.C. 810, 818 (1973).
The sanme general thought is reflected in United States v.
Tannehill, 49 F.3d 1049, 1053 (5th G r. 1995), where, addressing
the nmeaning of the term “hearing” in the Speedy Trial Act, we
st at ed:

“The Act does not define what constitutes a ‘hearing’,

In other contexts, ‘hearing’ has been defined in
vari ous ways. See, e.g., Buxton v. Lynaugh, 879 F.2d
140, 144-45 (5th Gr. 1989) (‘hearing’, as used in habeas
corpus statute, 28 USC 8§ 2254(d), ‘does not
necessarily require an evidentiary hearing and
factfindi ng based on a record can in sone C|rcunstances
be adequate’), cert. denied, 497 U S. 1031, 110 S. Ct.
3295, 111 L.Ed.2d 803 (1990); State v. Oris, 26 Ohio
App. 2d 87, 269 N. E. 2d 623, 624 (1971) (the term*® heari ng’
suggests ‘to “give audience to”’); Black’ s Law Di ctionary
721 (6th ed. 1990) (defining ‘hearing’ as ‘[a] proceeding
of relative formality (though generally | ess formal than
atrial), generally public, with definite i ssues of fact
or law to be tried, in which wtnesses are heard and
evi dence presented’).”!!

UWth respect to this Black’s Law Dictionary definition, see
also Wllimatic Car Wash Inc. v. Zoning Board, 247 Conn. 732, 724
A2d 1108, 1110 (1999):

“Section 8-8(N) does not specify the nature of the
hearing that it requires. We begin, therefore, by
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Simlarly, “hearing” is not definedin 18 U S.C. 8§ 921(a) (defining
ternms for purposes of chapter 44) or in chapter 1 of Title 18.

It is evident fromthe record, the district court’s findings
and the “Agreed Order” recitals in the protective order (see note
1 supra), that that order was issued as an “Agreed Order” pursuant
to section 85.005 of the Texas Fam |y Code, 2 wi t hout process having

been i ssued or served, without any tine or place for hearing having

considering the term‘hearing’ according to its common,
general ly under st ood meani ng. [citation]. W
consistently have acknowl edged the definition of a
hearing provided in Black’s Law Dictionary, as ‘[a]
proceedi ng of relative formality . . . generally public,
with definite issues of fact or of law to be tried, in
whi ch wi t nesses are heard and evi dence presented’ “

12Section 85.005 provides as foll ows:

“8§ 85.005. Agreed Oder

(a) Tofacilitate settlenent, the parties to a proceedi ng
may agree in witing to the terns of a protective order
as provided by Section 85.021. An agreenent under this
subsection is subject to the approval of the court.

(b) To facilitate settlenent, a respondent nmay agree in
witing tothe terns of a protective order as provided by
Section 85.002, subject to the approval of the court.
The court may not approve an agreenent that requires the
applicant to do or refrain from doing an act wunder
Section 85.022.

(c) If the court approves an agreenent between the
parties, the court shall render an agreed protective
order that is in the best interest of the applicant, the
famly or household, or a nenber of the famly or
househol d.

(d) An agreed protective order is not enforceable as a
contract.

(e) An agreed protective order expires on the date the
court order expires.”
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previ ously been set, and, thus necessarily, w thout any notice of
heari ng having been issued or been received by Spruill, wthout
Spruill ever appearing before the judge, w thout any presentation
of evidence to the judge and w thout any hearing. The speci a
procedure contenplated by section 85.005 is in contrast to those
required in the Texas Fam |y Code provisions for other protective
orders, which require issuance and service of notice of the
application, sections 82.042, 82.043, that the court set a date and
time for hearing, section 84.001, that the notice of application
show t he date, tine and place of the hearing, section 82.041, that
“[a]t the close of a hearing” the court “shall” make findings as to
whet her famly violence had occurred and is |likely to occur in the
future and, if so, “shall render a protective order,” section
85.001, and that a protective order nay be issued “on a respondent
who does not attend a hearing if the respondent recei ved service of
t he application and notice of the hearing.” Section 85.006.% Here
no hearing was ever set and Spruill received no notice of any

heari ng.

BThere are al so procedures for tenporary “ex parte” protective
orders which may be issued “wthout further notice to” the
respondent “and without a hearing” if “the court finds from the

information contained in an application . . . that thereis a clear
and present danger of famly violence,” § 83.001, such orders to
remain in effect “not to exceed 20 days,” subject to being

“extended for additional 20 day periods.” § 83.002. The order in
gquestion here is obviously not such an order (and such orders are
clearly not within 8 922(g)(8)(A), see United States v. Enerson,
270 F. 3d 203, 211 n.2 (5th Cr. 2000)).
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Significantly, the court’s approval of the order agreed to out
of court by Spruill under section 85.005 “to facilitate settlenent”
clearly does not carry with it the sane degree of assurance that
the issuing court itself determned that such an order was
necessary to prevent famly violence as woul d an order issued after
an actual hearing. In Enmerson we noted Second Anendnent concerns
respecting section 922(g)(8), but concluded that where the state
| aw and procedures were such that the order should not issue unl ess
the issuing court actually concluded that absent the order there
was a realistic threat of i mm nent physical injury to the protected
party, such concerns were not controlling, for “[i]n such a case,
we concl ude that the nexus between firearm possession by the party
so enjoined and the threat of |aw ess violence, is sufficient,
though likely barely so, to support the deprivation, while the
order remains in effect, of the enjoined party’s Second Anendnent
right to keep and bear arns.” ld. at 264. Where the court
W t hout any setting or hearing and wi thout the parties being before
it, nmerely approves and issues an order because the parties have
agreed to it “to facilitate settlenment” and it “is in the best
interest of the applicant, the famly or househol d, or a nenber of
the famly or household” (section 85.005), there would be a real
question as to whether the requisite nexus has been established.
As the court explained in Janus Filnms Inc. v. MIller, 801 F.2d 578,

583 (2d Gir. 1986):
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. . Wth a true ‘consent judgnent’ all of the relief
to be provided by the judgnent and all of the wording to
effectuate that relief is agreed to by the parties. The
court makes no determnation of the nmerits of the
controversy or of the relief to be awarded. Wth a
‘settlenment judgnent’ the parties have agreed on the
conponents of a judgnent, including the basis aspects of
relief, but have not agreed on all the details or the
wor di ng of the judgnent. The conponents of the agreenent
are usually reported to the court onthe record. As with
a consent judgnent, the judge nmakes no determ nation of
the nerits of the controversy. Wth respect to relief,
however, the judge’'s role in a settlenent judgnent is
slightly broader. Since the parties have agreed only
upon the basic aspect of relief, the judge is obliged to
determine the detailed terns of the relief and the
wording of the judgnment. |In determning the details of
relief, the judge may not award whatever relief would
have been appropriate after an adjudication on the
merits, but only those precise forns of relief that are
either agreed to by the parties . . . or fairly inplied
by their agreenent.

In deciding whether to approve agreenents calling for
entry of either a consent judgnent or a settlenent
judgnent, a court normally has only a limted role so
Il ong as the dispute affects only private interests. See
United States v. Gty of Mam, 614 F.2d 1322, 1330 (5th
Cir. 1980). Though the judge does not ‘nerely sign on
the line,” United States v. City of Mam, 664 F.2d 435,
440 (5th Cir. 1981), he or she nornmally makes only the
mnimal determnation of whether the agreenent 1is
appropriate to be accorded the status of a judicially
enforceabl e decree.” (Enphasis added)

Simlarly, in Comonwealth v. Davis, 531 Pa. 272, 612 A2d 426, 429
(1992), the court stated:

“We have held in the past, and we do so again, that a
hearing intends a judgnent bench attended by judges or
officials sitting in a judicial capacity, prepared to
listen to both sides of the dispute and to consider
deeply, reflect broadly, and decide inpartially, and the
mere consi deration of a report noving across one’s desk,
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is not a hearing.”
See also, e.g., WIllimatic Car Wash, Inc. supra, 724 A 2d at 1113-
14 (announcenent of zoning appeal settlenent at pretria
conferences before court, with court ascertaining that all agreed,
and subsequent enforcenent evidentiary hearing, did not neet
requi renent of a statute requiring that court action on zoning
appeal be “after a hearing”).

The district court held that the entry of the February 11,
1998 order did not deny Spruill procedural due process because he
did not have to sign and consent to it and had he not done so a
heari ng woul d have been set and he woul d have had notice thereof
and an opportunity to participate and present evidence. 61 F. Supp.

at 588.1% But the issue we address is not whether the state court

¥The district court cited in this connection United States v.
Fal zone, 1998 WL. 351471 (D. Conn. 1998), a 8 922(9g)(8)
prosecution in which the defendant did not claimthat the predicate
state court order was issued without a hearing, or that he did not
have adequate notice of the hearing, but rather that “he did not
recei ve an opportunity to participate in the state court hearing at
the conclusion of which the protection order was issued agai nst
him” The defendant appeared in person and with his | awer at the
hearing, and his | awer “had the opportunity to rai se objections to
the entry of the protective order.” The only contention in the
federal prosecution was that defendant had had i nadequate tine to
consult with his |awer prior to the latter’s “‘snap’ deci sion not
to contest the entry of the protective order.” It is evident that
no request for a recess or continuance was nade in the state
proceedi ngs, and the district court found that the | awer’s action
“was certainly reasonable.” It concluded that the protective order
hearing was one “at which” the defendant *“had an opportunity to
participate” within the nmeaning of 8 922(g)(8)(A), and that the
entry of the protective order did not violate defendant’s
procedural due process rights. Here, however, there was no hearing
and no notice of hearing, Spruill did not appear before the court
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order was itself wvalid or its terns enforceable against
Spruill—-that order does not address firearm possession by Spruill
and his possession of the firearm did not violate the order.
Rather, the relevant issue is whether the protective order
here—-i ssued under section 85.005 wi thout any prior setting or
hearing and wi t hout the parties being beforeit—is within the scope
of section 922(g)(8)(A)’s requirenent that the order have been
“Issued after a hearing of which such person received actual
notice.” (Qobviously, the nere fact that the protective order may
itself be enforced without violating the respondent’s procedural
due process rights does not nean that it is within the scope of
section 922(9g)(8)(A). For exanple, once a respondent receives
proper notice of a tenporary protective order agai nst himthat has
been i ssued without prior notice to him that order can, consistent
w th due process, thereafter be enforced agai nst hi meven though he
had no notice prior to its entry. Yet such an order is plainly
out si de the scope of section 922(g)(8)(A). W believe that section
922(9)(8)(A) is best understood as not directed only to procedural
due process concerns but as well to the concept that federal
| egislation should not affix to state court donestic relation
protective orders the coll ateral effect of inposing serious federal
fel ony penalties for conduct not violative of the order itself or

otherwise illegal, wunless a judge has conscientiously indeed

and was not represented by counsel.
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concluded, after an actual hearing, that such was reasonably
necessary to prevent otherwise likely conduct as described in
section 922(9g)(8)(B) and (C), as opposed to the judge nerely
approving without an actual hearing an order agreed to by parties
out of court “to facilitate settlenent,” a process in which, as
stated in Janus Filns, supra, the judge “normally has only a
limted role,” generally “nakes no determ nation of the nerits,”
and “normally makes only the mninmal determ nation of whether the
agreenent i s appropriate to be accorded the status of a judicially
enf orceabl e decree.”

The governnment wurges that “hearing” as wused in section
922(9) (8) (A) neans “an opportunity to be heard, to present one’s
side of the case, or to be generally known or appreciated,” one of
the definitions given in Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 535 (10th

ed. 1996).1 We decline to adopt this definition. For the reasons

3This definitionis citedinUnited States v. Wlson, 159 F. 3d
280, 292 (7th Cr. 1998), in connection with the court’s rejection
of the contentionin a 8 922(g)(8) prosecution that the trial court
erred by refusing defendant’s two requested instructions which
stated that “a hearing includes a defendant’s right to be heard at
a neaningful tinme and in a neaningful manner” and that “an
opportunity to participate at a hearing includes the defendant’s
right to a fair and neani ngful opportunity to present his defense,”
the Seventh Circuit concluding that these instructions were
adequately covered in the court’s charge which required the jury to
find that “[t]he Order of Protection was issued after a hearing of
whi ch defendant received actual notice” and that “[d]efendant had
an opportunity to participate at said hearing.” ld. at 291.
Wl son, the defendant in that case, also contended that he was
entitled to acquittal “because the hearing he was given [on the
protective order] did not neet the requirenents of the Due Process
Cl ause,” but the Seventh Crcuit rejected that contention. 1d. at
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stated, and particularly as applied in this case, it would not
address the hearing concerns which we believe are inplicit in
section 922(9g)(8)(A), and m ght well raise serious Second Anendnent
I ssues. Moreover, the governnent’s proffered definition is
obviously not directed primarily at judicial (or even quasi-

judicial) proceedi ngs but extends as much to purely social or other

non-governnental situations (e.g., “to be generally known or
appreci ated”). In Florida East Coast Railway the Suprene Court
289-90. Its recital of the facts reflects that Wlson's wife (or

former wife) had obtained an ex parte energency protective order
against Wlson and this was served on WIson, the order stating
that a hearing would be held on a plenary protection order on
Septenber 1, at 1 p.m, and thereafter Wlson, his wfe and her
attorney appeared in court on that day and tine. WIson, pro se,
then filed a notion to vacate a default dissolution of marriage
previously entered by the judge, HIl, and a notion for Judge Hil
to recuse hinself. Both notions were granted “and Judge David
Correll took over the case. WIson, Thonas [the wife's | awer] and
Judge Correll then retired to Judge Correll’s chanbers for the
schedul ed hearing on the entry of a plenary order of protection
agai nst Wlson while Angela [the wife] and WIson’s not her

wai ted outside.” The “neeting in Judge Correll’s chanbers | asted
no nore than ten m nutes. During the neeting, Judge Correll
expl ai ned the proposed order of protection to WIson, who indi cated
he did not have a problemwith any of its terns.” 1d. at 284. 1In
rejecting the “Due Process” challenge to the order, the Seventh
Circuit stated that “WIson had notice of the hearing that took
pl ace on Septenber 1,” that he was afforded an “opportunity at the
hearing” before Judge Correll to present reasons why the order
shoul d not issue, and “that WIson, although proceeding pro se at
the tinme, had successfully persuaded another judge to vacate a
default divorce that had been entered and then recuse hinself from
the case. WIson was thus conpetent to | odge an objection to the
protective order, and he was given the ability to do so. This is

all that due process requires . . .7 ld. at 290. W note in
passing the contrasts to Spruill’s case, in which no hearing was
set, given notice of, or held, there was no appearance before the
judge, and the order was explained totheilliterate Spruill by the

protected party’s attorney.
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gave “a broad definition of the term ‘hearing’ ”, which did not
include the right to present evidence orally, cross-exam ne
W t nesses or present oral argunent, because “the termwas used in
granting authority to the Comm ssion to nmake rul es and regul ati ons
of a prospective nature” (id. 93 S.C. at 818-19) which were of a
general character applicable to nunerous parties (id. at 820). The
Court there specifically distinguished other of its decisions as to
what constituted a “hearing” on the basis that they involved
“‘quasi-judicial’ proceedings.” 1d. at 819, 820. Here, section
922(9g)(8)(A) is plainly directed to judicial proceedings, pointing
to a narrower, rather than a broader, neaning of “hearing.”
Further, the governnent’s suggested definition of hearing would in
essence have section 922(g)(8)(A) say that an opportunity for a
noti ced hearing nust have been afforded, or that the order be one
that was issued after the person had been afforded the opportunity
to be heard on actual notice with right to participate. But, that
is not what section 922(g)(8)(A) says. Wuat section 922(g)(8)(A)
actually says is that the order nust be one “issued after a hearing
of which such person received actual notice, and at which such
person had an opportunity to participate.” The ordinary, natural
meani ng of this is that there nmust have been an actual hearing-as
we said in Enmerson, 270 F.3d at 261, and as the district court
stated here (“[d] ef endant never appeared before a judge, nor was a

hearing (at least as this court would define one) apparently ever
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held,” 61 F. Supp.2d at 588). See also WIllimatic Car Wash, Inc.,
724 A2d at 1110, as to the “common, generally understood neani ng”
of “hearing” (quoted in note 11 supra). Mreover, the wording of
section 922(g)(8)(A) |ikew se expressly requires that the def endant
have “received actual notice” of the hearing, which necessarily
means t hat the hearing nust have been set for a particular tinme and
pl ace and the defendant nust have received notice of that and
thereafter the hearing nust have been held at that tine and pl ace.
None of these things occurred here.

I n construing section 922(g)(8)(A) we are |ikew se influenced
by two other considerations to give it a narrower rather than a
broader scope. First, the scope of a crimnal statute, unless it
is clear and unanbi guous (an attribute the governnent does not
claim for section 922(g)(8)(A)), is to be strictly, and not
expansi vel y, construed. See Jones v. United States, 120 S C.

1904, 1912 (2000).15 A narrower, rather than a broader,

construction of section 922(g)(8)(A) is |Iikew se indicated because

8l n Jones the Court stated:

“We have instructed that ‘anbiguity concerning the anbit
of crimnal statutes should be resolved in favor of
lenity,” Rewis v. United States, 401 U S. 808, 812, 91
S.Ct. 1056, 28 L.Ed.2d 493 (1971), and that ‘when choice
has to be made between two readings of what conduct
Congress has nade a crine, it is appropriate, before we
choose the harsher alternative, to require that Congress
should have spoken in language that is clear and
definite,” United States v. Universal CI.T. Credit
Corp., 344 U S. 218, 221-22, 73 S.C. 227, 97 L.Ed. 260
(1952).” 1d.
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t hat enactnent affixes to state court donestic relations orders the
collateral effect of inposing serious federal felony penalties for
conduct not violative of the order itself or otherwise illegal
(indeed even for conduct which the order mght expressly
aut horize), and hence intrudes into the regulation of donestic
relations and court orders related thereto that are paradi gnmatic
areas of state concern and control, all with only the nost renote
and attenuated relationto interstate conmerce. To avoid expandi ng
that intrusion the class of orders covered by section 922(g)(8) (A
shoul d be narrow y, not broadly, construed under the principle that
“unl ess Congress conveys its purpose clearly, it will not be deened
to have significantly changed the federal -state balance.” United
States v. Bass, 92 S. . 515, 523 (1971). See also Jones at 1912
(quoting Bass in this respect).

For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the February 11,
1998 order was not one entered “after a hearing of which” Spruil
“recei ved actual notice” and accordingly was not within the scope
of section 922(g)(8).

The judgnent of conviction is therefore vacated and the cause
is remanded for proceedi ngs consi stent herewth.

VACATED and REMANDED
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